
IN TI-1E UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

WESTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES O F  AMERICA, ) No. 

Plaintiff, ) C O U N T O N E :  

) Defendants 1,  2 , 3 , 4 ,  and 5 
v .  ) 18 U.S.C. 5 371 

) 
ISLAMIC AMERICAN RELIEF AGENCY,) 
aikla Islamic African Relief Agency-USA, ) 
a/Wa IARA, (1) 

) 
MUBARAK HAMED, (2) 1 
[DOB: XXiXXl1956], ) 

) 
ALI M O H A M E D  BAGEGNI, (3) ) 

[DOB: XXIXXi19541, ) 

) 
AHMAD MUSTAFA, (4)  ) 

[DOB: XXiXXi19521, 

KEIALID AL-SUDANEE, (5) ) 
[DOB: XXIXX!1951], 1 

) 
and 

1 
ABDEL AZlM EL-SIDDIQ, (6) ) 

[DOB: XX!XX!l957], 1 

Defendants. 1 
1 
) 
) 

1 

(Conspiracy to Violate the lntcrnational 
Emcrgcr~cy Economic Powers Act and the 
Iraqi Sanctions Regulations) 

NMT 5 years imprisonment 
NMT $250,000 fine 
NMT 3 years TSR 
Class D Felony 

COUNTS T W O  through TWELVE:  
Defendants 1, 2 , 3 ,  and 5 
50 U.S.C. 5s 1701 - 1706 
I 8  U.S.C. 5 2 
31 C.F.R. 5 575.210 
(Violat~ons of the International Emcrgcncy 
Economic Powers Act and the Iraqi 
Sanctions Regulations) 

NMT 12 years imprisonment 
NMT $1,000,000 finc 
NMT 3 years TSR 
Class C Felony 

C O U N T  THIRTEEN: 
Defendants 1, 2 , 3 ,  4, and 5 
18 U.S.C. 5 1956133) 
(Conspiracy to Commit Money 
Laundering) 

1 
) NMT 20 years imprisonment 
) NMT $500,000 fine 
) NMT 5 years TSR 
) Class B Felony 



COUNTS FOURTEEN through 
TWENTY-FOUR:  
Defendants 1 , 2 ,  3, and 5 
18 U.S.C. $ 5  1956(a)(2)(A) and 2 
(Money Laundcr~ng)  

NMT 20 years tmprlsonmcnt 
NMT $500,000 fine 
NMT 5 years TSR 
Class B Felony 

C O U N T  TWENTY-FIVE through 
TWENTY-SEVEN: 
Defendants 1 ,  2, and 3 
18 U.S.C. 55 641 and 2 
(Theft of Publlc Money) 

NMT 10 years Imprlsonment 
NMT $250,000 fine 
NMT 3 years TSR 
Class C Felony 

COUNT TWENTY-EIGHT: 
Defendants I ,  2 , 3 ,  and 6 
I8 U.S.C. 5 1956(h) 
(Consptracy to Commit Money 
Laundcr~ng) 

NMT 20 years ilnprlsonmcnt 
NMT $500.000 line 
NMT 5 years TSR 
Class B Felony 



COUNTS TWENTY-NINE through 
THIRTY-ONE: 
Defendants 1, 2 , 3 ,  and 6 
18 U.S.C. 55  1956(a)(l)(R)(i) and 2 
(Money Laundering) 

NMT 20 years imprisonmcnr 
NMT $500,000 fine 
NMT 5 years TSR 
Class B Felony 

COUNT THIRTY-TWO: 
Defendants I and 2 
26 U.S.C. 3 7212(a) 
(Ob~ t rucc~ng  or lmpedlng Admlnlstrat~on 
of Internal Revenuc Laws) 

NMT 3 years imprtsonrnent 
NMT S250,000/$500,000 f ~ n c  
NMT 1 ycar TSR 
Class E Fclony 

$ 1  00 Special Asscssmenl on Each Count 

COUNT THIRTY-THREE: 
Defendants 1 ,  2, 3, 4,5 ,  and 6 
18 U.S.C. 55  982(a)(1) and (b) ( l )  
(Foriclturc) 



Suniniary of  Charges: 

Thc Grand Jury charges: 

At all timcs niatcrial hcrein: 

I .  The  dcfcndant ISLAMIC AMERICAN RELIEF AGENCY, hereinafter refcrred 

to as "IARA." alkla Islamic African Relief Agency-USA. was an Islanlic charitablc 

organization incorporated under Missouri law in 1985. On its application for tax-excmpt 

status: the organization stated: "The primary purposc in forming the organization was  to 

raisc funds in the Unitcd Statcs that could be  donated abroad to assist in thc faminc crises 

in Africa. particularly in ihc Sudan rcgion. Thc organization raises its funds in the Unitcd 

Statcs prin~ari ly through personal contacts of  the organization with othcr foreigncrs living 

in the U.S." According to the dcfcndant IARA's wcbsite (as of May 10, 2004), "Thc 

l s l an~ ic  Anicrican Rclicf Agency is an A~ncr ican  non-profit organization established in 

1985 and ded~catcd to the crnpowerrnent o f  disadvantaged pcople everywhere through 



rclief and participatory developmetit programs emphasizing human dignity, self-reliance, 

and social justice.'' One  o f  the purposes o f  the defendant IARA's wcbsite was to solicit 

dollations from the general public for advertised projects and programs. 

2. On or about August 27,  1987, tile defcndant IARA applied for recognition of  

tax exemption under Section 50l(e)(3) of  the Internal Revenue Code (Title 26, United 

States Code). On April 21, 1989, the defendant IARA was granted tax-exempt status. In 

addition to affecting the organization's tax liability, thc tax-exempt designation allowed 

all contributions made to the organization to be deducted from the donors'  adjusted gross 

income. 

3. On its Form 1023, Application for Rccognition of Exemption, dated August 27. 

1987, the d e f c n d a n ~  IARA stated that it "is an affiliate of  thc African Relief Agency of 

Khartoum, Sudan, although the Agency in Khartoum exercises no authority or control 

over the organization [IARA]." 

4. Tile defcndant IARA's  Articles of  Incorporation describe it as "Islamic African 

Relief Agency United States Affiliate" and include the purpose of"effccting the 

Objectives and Means of  the Islalnic African Relief Agency as set forth in its 

Constitution." The Articles of  Incorporation further providcd that in the event of  the 

defendant IARA's dissolution, the Islamic African Relief Agcncy (Sudan), among others, 

should receive its assets. 



5.  On April 18, 1930, Dr. Abdallah Sulayman Ai-Awad. Agency General Director 

of  the lslaniic African ReliefAgcncy.  Khartoum, Sudan, sent a letter to the defendant 

IARA's  then-office manager, Muhammad Ahmad Ibrahim Al-Bashir, advising the 

defcndant IARA that the Islamic African Relicf Agency headquarters in Khartoum. 

Sudan, had decided to transfer Mubarak Hamad [the defcndant M U B A R A K  MAMED] to 

the "US office as deputy to  the office manager - starting the beginning of  Octobcr 1990 

A.D." The letter continued by stating. ". . . I request that you kindly start in the 

proceedings of  his entry to the US,  providing that he enters and lives on a student visa 

~ ~ n t i l  he receives tlie permanent work visa." 

6. In 1998, during correspondence with the Treasury Department. the dcfcndant 

]AKA described tlie Islamic African Relief Agency as its "partncr in Sudan." 

7 .  On May 25,  2000, the lslaniic African Relief Agency-USA legally changed its 

name to the Islamic American Relief Agency (the defendant IARA). 

8. The defendant lARA provided a large amount of  its financial aid tlirougll the 

offices of  the lslaniic Relief Agency (ISRA),  located throughout the world, including 

Amman: Jordan. 

9. lSRA is the international identity of  the islamic African Rclief Agency 

headquartered 111 Khartoum, Sudan 1SRA's publ~catlons and correspondence conf i r~n  tlie 

~ n e r g e d  identity by referring to itself by hot11 names. 



COUNT ONE 
(Conspiracy to Violate the international Erneree~lcy Econonlic Powers Act - 

and the Iraqi Sanctions Regulations) 

10. The allegations of paragraphs one (1) through nine (9) of this Indictment arc 

hercby re-alleged and incorporated by refercncz as though fully set forth herein. 

1 1 .  Under thc International Emergency Economic Powers Act (Title 50. United 

States Code; Sections 1701 through 1706) (IEEPA), the President of the United States has 

the authority to deal with unusual or extraordinary threats to the national security and 

forcign policy of the United States. TIiis authority includcs investigating. regulating and 

prohibiting any transaction, including transfers of credit or payments. involving any 

interest of a foreign country or national thcreofrelated to a Presidentially declared 

national emergency. The  President's for111a1 directives in this regard arc issued through 

Executive Orders which have the force and cffect of law. 

12. On or about Augtrst 2 ,  1990. under the authority of IEEPA, and following 

Iraq's invasion into Kuwait. President George I I .  W .  Bush issucd Executive Ordcr 12722, 

wllicli declared a national emergency with respect to Iraq. According to tlie directive, tbc 

policies and actions of the Government of Iraq constituted an unusual and extraordinary 

threat to the national security and foreign policy interests of the United States. On or 

about August 9; 1990, the President issued Exccutivc Ordcr 12724, which proscribed 

specific conduct related to the national security concerns and enipowered the Secretary of 



Treasury to promulgate regulations and take other action necessary to fully realize the 

purposes of t l ~ e  relevant Executive Orders. 

13. Pursuant to this authority, the Secretary of Trcasury issued the lraqi Sanctions 

Rcgulations, Title 3 1. Code of Federal Rcgulations, Section 575. These Executive Orders 

and regulations. which arc admi~listcred and cnforcclt by the Department of Treasury's 

Office oSForcign Assets Control (OFAC), prohibitcd, among other things: (a)  the 

unauthorized transfer, direct or indirec~,  o f  funds or other financial or economic resources 

to the Govcrnnicnt of Iraq or to any person in Iraq; (b) thc unauthorized export of goods, 

tecl~nology or services from t l ~ e  United States to a third country that werc intended for 

further shipment to Iraq; (c)  any transaction for the purpose of. or  which had tlic effect of: 

evading or avoiding the lraqi Sanctions Regulations: and (d) any conspiracy fomied for 

tlic purpose of engaging in  a transaction prohibited by the regulations. 

14.  The regulations did, howcver, provide for tlle registration and licensing of 

Non-Governmental Organizations (NGOs) engaged in humanitarian activities in Iraq, as 

well as individual transactions: all of which were rcviewcd on a case by case basis by 

OFAC. If approvcd. the N G O  or other applicant would receive a liccnsc from OFAC 

containing strict guidance on thc ~la ture  and extent of the approvcd activities. None of thc 

defendants ever received a liccnsc from OFAC authorizing money or other items to be 

delivered, directly or indirectly, into lraq. 



1 5 .  The President renewed the declared national emergency regarding Iraq by the 

yearly rcissuancc of  the relevant Executive Orders. Effective May 23,  2003, subsequent 

to the ouster of Ba'ath party and the regime of then-President S a d d a ~ n  Hussein, OFAC 

issued a General Licensc which suspended rnost economic sanctions against Iraq, 

including those described lterein. 

16. The dcfendant MUBARAK HAMED was the executive director for the 

defendant IARA beginning in at least 1992, continuing until the organization's closure in 

October 2004. 

17. T h c  dcfendant Al.1 BAGEGNl  was a member of  the dcfendant IARA's  board 

of  directors beginning in at least 1992, continuing until the organization's closure in 

October 2004.  

18. The defendant KHALID AL-SUDANEE is the regional director of  lSRA's  

Middlc East office, located in Ammatt, Jordan. 

19. Tltc defendant A I i M A D  MUSTAFA was a fund-raiser for the dcfendant 

IARA froin approxirnatcly July 1996 until the organization's closure in October 2004. 

The defendant A H M A D  MUSTAFA, a native of Iraq, concentrated his efforts in raising 

I'unds for Iraq. 

20. Beginning in or around March 1991 and corttirtuing until in or around May 

2003, in the Western District of Missouri, and elsewhere, the defendants IARA, 

MUBARAK HAMED,  KHALID AL-SUDANEE,  ALI BAGEGNI, A H M A D  



MUSTAFA and others known and unknown to the Grand jury, knowingly and willfully 

conspircd, confederated and agrced to violatc Exccutive Orders 12722 and 12724, and thc 

Iraqi Sanctions Regulations. by transferring and causing to be transferred, funds, from the 

United Statcs to Iraq, by and tllrougl~ Amman, lordan, which transfers were subject to 

Exccutive Orders I2722 and 12724, and the Iraqi Sanctions Regulations, in violation of 

Title 50: United States Code. Sections 1701 through 1706: and Title 3 I .  Code 01' Federal 

Regulations, Section 575.2 10. 

Manner  and Means 

2 1. In furtherance o f  the conspiracy, beginning in or around March 1991, the 

defendant IARA, by and through its board of  directors, including the defendant Al.1 

BAGEGNI,  authorized the provision of  i'inancial support to persons and organizations 

locarcd inside lraq. 

22.  During the course and in furtl~crance of  the conspiracy, and in order to 

generate money for Iraq, the dcfendants, including the defendant A H M A D  MUSTAFA 

used the defendant IARA's tax-exempt status to solicit donations from the public by 

reprcsentrng that the donors'  contr~but lons  were tau deduct~ble  

23. During the course and in furtherancc of  the conspiracy. and in order to 

encourage donations for Iraq, the defendants, by and tbrough the approval of the 

dcfendant IAKA's board o f  directors, produced publications which described and lauded 

contributions going to Iraq. 



24 Durtng the course and in furtherance of  the consptracy, and in order to 

document the c o n t r ~ b u t ~ o n s  to Iraq, thc defendants nia~ntalncd internal accounttng 

classifications which detailed the nature and amount of contributions being made to Iraq. 

25. During the course and in Curtherancc of thc conspiracy, the defendants 

engaged the services o f  the defendant KIJALID AL-SUDANEE, regional director of 

ISRA's  Middle East ofl'ice, to transfer, by electronic and otlier means, funds or othcr 

items, originaling in the United States, to Iraq. As part o f  his duties, and in order to 

facilitate the transactions and identify recipients, the defcndant KHALID AL-SUDANEE 

met with lraqi military and othcr govcrnmcnt officials 

26. During the coursc and in furtherance o f t h e  conspiracy. the defendants 

MUBARAK HAMED,  AI.1 BAGEGNI and AWMAD MUSTAFA,  transferred and 

caused to he transferred, funds. from the defendant IARA's bank accounts in the Wcstcrn 

District of  Missouri, to ISRA's bank accounts in Amman. .lordan. 

27. During the coursc and in furtlicrance of the conspiracy. the defcndant 

KEIALID AL-SUDANEE,  by and in agrcenient witli the other defendants, transfcl-red and 

caused to bc transferred, monics rcccivcd from the defendan1 IARA's  bank accounts in  

the United Stales, to lraq.  

28. During the course and in furtherance o f t h e  conspiracy, the defendant 

KHALID AL-SUDANEE authored and maintained internal reports and financial 



schedules detailing monies received from the dcfendant IARA in the United States and 

expended in lraq. 

29. During the course and in l'urtherance of  the conspiracy, the defendant 

KI-1ALID AL-SUDANEE forwarded periodic status reports to the defendant IARA 

describing the conditions and needs in Iraq, and detailing the expenditure of  the defendant 

IARA's  funds in Iraq. 

30. During the course and in furtherance of  the conspiracy, the defendant 1ARA's 

board of  directors reviewed and approved the defendant IARA's annual reports which 

described the defendant IARA's activities in Iraq and encouraged continued donations in 

order to facil i~atc the defendant 1ARA's on-going efforts within lraq. 

3 I During the course and in furtherance of  the conspiracy, the defendant 

MUBARAK HAMED: in response to an inquiry by OFAC as  to whethe1 the defendant 

JARA was violating the Iraqi sanctions. attempted to deceive OFAC by stating thal the 

defendant IARA was  attempting to aid and assist Iraqi people living outside of  lraq. 

32. At no time, did any of  the defendants, IARA, MUBARAK 'IAMED, A l l  

BAGECiNI. A H M A D  MUSTAFA and KHALID AL-SUDANEE,  receive a license or 

other authorization from OFAC to transfer or  cause to be transferred, monies or other 

items, inio Iraq. 



Overt Acts 

33. During t l ~ e  course and in furtherance of  the conspiracy, and in ordcr to 

acconiplish its purposes, on or about the dates, and in the amounts, set forth bclow, the 

defendants IAKA, MUBARAK I-lAMED, ALI BAGEGNI,  A H M A D  MUSTAFA and 

KHALID AL-SUDANEE committed, and caused to be  committed, ihe following overt 

acts, in addition to those acts detailed within the Manner and Means section abovc, and 

others, by participating in transactions or ncgotiations involving the transfer and 

attempted transfer of funds and other items from the United States to Amman, Jordan, lor  

u l t i~nate  distribution to Iraq, in violation of  Executive Orders 12722 and 12724. and the 

Iraqi S a n c t i o ~ s  Regulations: 

OVERT ACTS 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

1 1  

DAI'E OF TRANSFER 

0411 019 1 

0812619 1 

03/26/92 

07128192 

0611 1 I93 

05/3 1/95 

07/26/96 

1 1120196 

1211 0196 

01/28/97 

0313 1197 

APPROXIMAI'E AMOUNT 

$ 15,542.50 

S 19,200.00 

S 15,000.00 

$ 4,742.50 

S 6,981 .00 

S 4.120.00 

$ 10,000.00 

"Medical Supplies" 

$ 14,529.00 

$ 4 1,700.00 

$ 5 1,500.00 



In v~olatron of  T ~ t l e  18, U n ~ t c d  States Code. Sectlon 371 (Titlc 50. U n ~ t e d  States 

Code. S c c t ~ o n s  1701-1 706,  Tltlc 3 1 ,  Code o f  Fedcral R c g u l a t ~ o n ~ ,  S c c t ~ o n  575 2 10) 

COUNTS TWO through TWELVE 
(Violations o f  the lntcrnational Emergency Economic Powcrs Act and 

Iraqi Sanctions) 

34 Thc a l lcgat~ons  of  paragraphs one ( 1 )  through e~gh tecn  ( 1  8 )  and paragraphs 

twenty-one (21) through thirty-thrcc (33) of  this lndictmcnt arc licrcby re-allcgcd and 

incorporated by rcfercncc as thougli firlly sct fbrtli hcrcln 

35  On or about tlie dates, and in the approxlniatc amounts, hct forth bclow, in the 

Wcstern Dis t r~c t  of  Missouri. and elscwl~cre,  the dcfendants IAIIA, MUBARAK 

MAMED. ALI BAGEGNI and KHALID AL-SUDANEE. aldcd and ahctted by cach 

other, knowingly and willCully violatcd Executive Orders 12722 and 12724. and the Iraqi 

Sanctions Regulations, by participating in transactions involving tlic transfcr and 

attempted transfer of  funds from the United States to Iraq, by and through Amman. 



lordan,  which funds were suhjeci to Executive Orders 12722 and 12724, and the Iraqi 

Sanctions Regulations: 

In violation of  Title 50, United States Code,  Sections 1701-1 706; Title 3 I ,  Code of  

Federal Rcgulatlons. Scctlon 575 210. and T ~ t l e  18. U n ~ t e d  States Code,  Sect lo l~  2 

COUNT THIRTEEN 
(Consp~racy  to C o m n ~ ~ t  Money Laundcr~ng)  

36  The a l legat~ons  of  paragraphs one  (1) through nlncteen (19) and paragraphs 

twenty-one (21) through tli~rty-three (33) of  t h ~ s  Ind~ctrnent are hereby re-alleged and 

incorporated by reference as  though fully set forth herein 

37. Beginning in or about March 1991 and continuing until in or about May 2003, 

in the Western District of Missouri, and elsewhere. the defendants IARA, MUBARAK 



I IAMED. ALl BAGEGNI,  A H M A D  MUSTAFA and KFfALlD AL-SUDANEE d ~ d  

consprrc and agree wrth one another, and w ~ t h  others known and unknown to the Grand 

.lury. to knowingly transport, transmlt and transfer. and attempt to transport, t ransm~t  and 

transfer a monetary ins~rumcnt  and funds from a place in the Unitcd Statcs to a place 

outside the United Statcs with the intcnt to promote tl:c carrying on o f  specified unlawful 

activity. that is_ knowingly and willfully transferring and attempting to transfer funds or 

other financial or  economic rcsourccs to Iraq, by and through Amman, Jordan, in 

violation of  Titlc 50: Unitcd States Code,  Sections 1701 througll 1706 (IEEPA), and 

punishable undcr Section 206 oSlEEPA (also known as Title 50_ Unitcd Statcs Code,  

Section 1705(b)). 

In violation of  Titlc 18. Unitcd Statcs Code. Section 1956(11). 

COUNTS FOURTEEN through TWENTY-FOUR 
(Moncy Launder~ng)  

38 Thc a l lcgat~ons  of paragraphs onc ( 1 )  through etghtccn ( I  8)  and paragraphs 

twcnty-one (21) through th~rty-thrcc (33) of  thts lndlctment arc hereby re-alleged and 

incorporated by rcferencc as thougll fully sct forth herein. 

39. On or about thc datcs. and in the approxinlatc amounts, set forth below, in the 

Western District of Missouri, and clsewherc, the defendants IARA, MUBARAK 

IIAMED, ALI BAGEGNJ and KI-lALID AL-SUDANEE, aidcd and abetted by each 

other. did knowingly transfer and attempt to transfer funds, in the form of wire transfers, 

from a place in the United States to a place outside the United States with the intcnt to 



promote the carrying on of specified unlawfi~l activity, that is. knowingly and willfully 

transferring and atten~pting to transfer funds or other financial or econon~ic  resources to 

Iraq, by and through Anlman, Jordan, in violation of Title 50, United States Code, 

Sections 1701 through 1706 (IEEPA), and punishable under Section 206 of lEEPA (also 

known as Title 50. Unitcd States Code, Section 1705(b)): 

In violation of Title 18, Unitcd States Code, Sections 1956(a)(2)(A) and 2 

COUNTS TWENTY-FIVE through TWENTY-SEVEN 
(Theft of P u b l ~ c  Money) 

40.  The allegations of paragraphs one ( I )  through x v c n  (7) o f  this Indictmcnt are 

hereby re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth h e r c ~ n  



41 .  Beginning on or about January I ,  !997. the defendants IARA, MUBARAK 

HAMED,  ALI BAGEGNI and othcrs, entercd into a serics of written cooperative 

agrcelncnts with the Unitcd States Agency for International Dcvelopment (USAID) for 

rclief projects in Mali, Africa. The agrcements werc tcrlninated by USAlD on or about 

Dcccmber 19. 1999. At the time ofternlination, the amount of  money involved in the 

coopcrativc agrcements totaled approximately $2,000,000.00. 

42.  By rbc terms of  each coopcrative agreement, the dcfcndant lARA could not 

co-mingle USAID program funds with other money and was rcquircd to scparaicly track 

USAlD contributions to the program. The defendant lARA opened special and cxclusive 

accounts for each projcct which detailcd tllc finallcia1 transactions related to the 

respective coopcrativc agreement. Additionally, t!~c defendant IARA was obligated by 

tllc tcrrns of the agrcemcnts to provide a specified perccntagc of matching funds, ranging 

from approxiruatcly 13% - 26% of  USAID applied funds. T h c  dcfend:int IARA failed to 

fully fund the rcquired percentage of  matching contributions. 

43. Subscyuent to the tcrmination ol'the agrccmenis, the dcfcndant IARA was 

authorized to rcyuest and expend USAID funds to pay for outstanding invoiccs obligated 

during the existence of  the agrecmcnts and specifically related to projccts authorized 

within thc terms of the agreements. 

44. After all outstanding i~lvoiccs werc satisfied. thc defendants IARA, 

MUBARAK HAMED and ALI BAGEGNI, witllout autliorization, rctaincd 



approximately $84,922,110 of TJSAID 111oney and failcd to return the unexpended funds to 

USAID as called for by the tenns and rules related to the agreements. 

45. On or about January 14, 2004, the defendant IARA was included on a Senate 

Finance Committee list (hereinafter "tlie list") targeting the activities of  Section 501 ( c ) (3 )  

organizations suspected o i b e i n g  involved in supporting international terrorism. 

46. In or about April 2004. the defendants IARA, MUBARAK I~lAMED: ALI 

BAGEGNl and others known and unknown to tlie Grand Jury, hired an individual to 

advocate for the defendant IARA's removal from the list by gathering infomiation and 

meeting witli individuals and agencies of  the United States Government. 

47. O n  or about the dates, and in the approxi~natc amounts: set iorth below, the 

defendants IARA_ MUBARAK IIAMED, ALI BAGEGNl and others known and 

unknown to the Grand Jury. aided and abetted by each other. did ktiowingly and without 

authority, convert for their use and the use of another, money of USAID: a departmetit or 

agency of tlie United States, that is. by providing payments derived from USAlD funds to 

another in support of  contracted efforts aimcd at altering tlie defendant IARA's  status 

before the United States Senate Finance Committee: 

In v~ola t ion of  Title 18. United States Code. Sections 641 and '2 

19 

COUNT 

2 5 

2 6 

27 

05/27/04 

08/26/04 

08/26/04 

A P P R O X I M A T E  A M O U N T  

$ 25,000.00 

$ 12,500.00 

$ 12,500.00 



COUNT TWENTY-EIGHT 
(Conspiracy to Cornmlt Moncy Laundering) 

48.  The allegations o fpa ragrap l~s  one ( 1 )  through scvcn (7) and forty-onc (41)  

through forty-six (46) oi'this Indictrr~ent are hercby re-allcged and incorporatcd by 

reference as thoug11 fully set forth herein. 

49.  Thc dcfcndant ABDEL AZIM EL-SII1L)lQ was a fundraiscr for tllc dcfendant 

lARA and Ilas been dcscribcd by thc organization as its vice-presidcnt for international 

operations. Thc defendant ABDEL AZIM EL-SIDDJQ had signatory authority on some 

o f t h e  defendant IARA's bank accounts. 

50. Beginning in or about March 2004; and continuing througl~ the date o f  this 

Indictmcnt, in the Wcstcrn District of  Missouri. and clscwherc, the defendants IARA, 

MlJBARAK I-IAMED, ALI BAGEGNI and ABDEL AZJM EL-SIDDIQ did conspire and 

agrcc with one another, and with others known and unknown to the Grand Jury. to 

knowingly conduct and attclnpt to conduct a financial transaction affecting interstate and 

foreign cornrnercc, that is. thc transfer and attcinptcd transfer of  funds which involvcd the 

proceeds ofspecificd unlawfirl activity, that is, Thcft of  Public Moncy, as sct forth i n  

Counts Twcnty-Fivc (25) through Twenty-Seven (27) of this indictment, knowing that thc 

transactions were designed in whole or in part to conccal and disguise the nature: source 



and ownership of  the proceecis, anti tha t  whilc conducting such financial transaction. 

knew that the funds represented the proceeds of some form of  unlawful activity 

In violation of  Title 18, United States Code? Section l956(h)  

COUNTS TWENTY-NINE through TI3IRTY-ONE 
(Money Laundering) 

5 1 The allegatrons of  paragraphs one ( I )  througll seven (7 )  and forty-one ( 4  I )  

through for ty-s~x (46) of  thts Indrctment are hereby re-alleged and incorporaled by 

reference as though fully set forth herein 

52. On or about the dates, and in the approximate arnounts: set forth below, in the 

Western District of  Missouri, and elsewhere. the defendants IARA; MUBAIiAK 

IIAMED, ALI BAGEGNI. ABDEL AZIM EL-SIDDIQ and others known and unknown 

lo the Gland jury, a ~ d e d  and abetted by each other, did k n o w ~ n g l y  conduct and attempt to 

conduct a financial transaction affecting interstate and foreign commerce, that is, the 

transfcr and attempted transfcr o r  funds which involved the proceeds of specified 

unlawful activity, that is, Theft of  Public Money, as  set forth in Counts Twenty-Five (25) 

through Twenty-Seven (27) of  this lndictnlent, knowing that the transactions were 

designed in wllole 01- in part to conceal and disguise the nature, source and ownership of' 

the procecds. and that while conducting such financial transaction, knew that the funds 

reprcse~lted the procecds o f  some form of  unlawful activity: 



In  v~olation of Title 18,  Unlted States Code, Scctrons 1956 ( a ) ( l ) ( B ) ( ~ )  and 2.  

COUNT THIRTY-TWO 
(Corrupt Endeavor to Ohstruct or Impede the Due Adm~n~stra t ron of 

APPROXIMA1 E A M O U N T  

% 18.337 00 

5 23,000 00 

S 1,350 00 

COUNT 
L 
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the Internal Revenue Laws) 

DATE OF TRANSFER 

06/30104 

09/07/04 

I 1 /I 6/04 

General Allegations 

53 The allegat~ons of paragraphs one ( I )  through ntne (9)  and eleven (1 I )  through 

nlneteen ( I  9) are hereby re-alleged and ~ncorporatcd by reference as though fully x t  forth 

herein 

54. The Internal Revenue Service (hereinafter "IRS") is the federal agency whose 

mission i t  is to oversee the operation of organizations cxen~pt  fiom income tax under 

Section 501(c)(3) of 11ic Internal Rcvenue Code. In accornplisliing this mission, the IRS 

prilnar~ly relies upon inforn~ation reported annually by each tax-exempt organization on 

IRS Forms 990, Return of Organization Exonpt  from Income Tax, detailing the 

organization's income, expenses and activities during the calender or tax year. 

Additionally, in determining an organization's entitlement to tax-exempt status, the IRS 

utilizes information provided by tax-exen~pt organizations in response to specific 1RS 

inquiries, inforillation provided by other federal and state agencies, and members of the 

public. 

2 2 



5 5 .  Beginning in o r  beforc June 1998, and continuing until on or about 

October 13, 2004, the defendants IARA and MUBARAK I lAMED cndcavored to 

obstruct and itnpcde the due administration of the Inrcrnal Rcvcnuc laws. to wit: the IRS 

ovcrslght of organrzatlons exempt from Income taw The object of t l ~ c  dcfcndants' 

endeavor was to usc the dcfendant IAIIA's tax-exempt status to solicit funds, representing 

that they wcrc legitimate charitable contributions. and to misuse part of  those funds by 

transferring thosc funds to Iraq, a purpose prohibited by law. and for other purposes not in 

furthcrancc of the defendant IARA's purported charitable mission. 

56 .  T o  continue to use IARA's  tax-exempt status to raise funds. and to avoid JRS 

detection ol'thcir activities not in furthcrancc of'their purported charitable mission. the 

defendants IARA and MUBARAK HAMED filcd IRS Forms 990 which intentionally 

omitted their transactions with Iraq and failcd to disclose relevant requested information 

regarding the control, history and affiliations of  the defendant IARA. they made false 

public statelncnts, and they made false statclncnts to agents and officials of  the United 

States Government. 

Statutory A l l e ~ a t i o n s  

5 7 .  B c g i n ~ ~ i n g  in or beforc lune  1998, and continuing until on or about 

Octobcr 13: 2004. in the Westcrn District of  Missouri, and elsewhere: the defendants 

IARA and M U B A R A K  I~IAMED corruptly endeavored to obstruct and impede the due 

administration of  the internal Revenue laws by: 



(a)  From in or before .lunc l998  a n J  contlnulng unt11 on or a b o u ~  

May 23. 2003, the defendants lARA and MUBARAK H A M E D  s o l ~ c ~ t c d  donations 

t h ~ o u g h  varlous means, ~ n c l u d ~ n g  pamphlets, flyers, newsletters. and personal 

correspondence (hereinafter "solicitations"), improperly requesting contributions to pay 

for projects in Iraq. Most of t l ~ e s e  solicitations specifically referenced the dcfcndant 

IARA's  tax-cxcmpt status under Section 50 l(c)(3) of  the Internal Revenue Code 

(Title 26. United States Code) by including the statement, "Make your tax-dcductible 

donation to: IARA - USA:" or words to that effect. .4dditionally. the solicitations 

somct in~es  specifically referenced the tax identification number assigned to the defendant 

IARA by the IRS. which was 43-1439368; 

(b) Froni in or bcfore June 1998. and continuing until on or about 

May 23. 2003. the defendants lARA and MUBARAK If AMED improperly accepted 

monetary contributions specifically dcsignatcd For PI-ojccts in Iraq: 

( c )  From on or before June 1998. and continuing until on or about 

May 23, 2003. the defendants IARA and MUBARAK MAMED used funds receivcd as  

cliaritablc contributions to engagc in the prohibited transactions with Iraq alleged in 

Counts Two (2) through Twelve (12) and Fourteen (14) through Twenty-Four (24) of  this 

Ind~ctment :  

(d)  O n  or about Dccembcr 15. 2001, the defcndants IARA and 

MUBARAK I-IAMED ~ n ~ p r o p c r l y  d~ver tcd  $47,000.00, funded from char~tablc  



contributions, for use as a ccnti~lgency fund. The defendants attempted to cotlceai the 

diversion of the $47,000.00 through the purchase of elcven ( 1  I )  cashiers chccks in the 

names of various IARA employees, without the knowledge or permission of thosc 

employees. The defcndants then improperly disbursed $20.000.00 of this Fund to pay 

attorney fccs and post bond for an individual idel-rtificd by the initials A.M., concerning 

immigration charges; 

(c) On or about the datcs set forth bclow, the defendants IARA and 

MUBARAK HAMED filed IRS Forms 990, Return of Organization Exempt From 

Income Tax. for the calendar tax years set forth below: 

Each of the IRS Forms 990 listed above was false and misleading in that: 

(1)  In Part 111. Statement of Program Service Accon~plishnients, 

of each IRS Form 990 listcd above, on which they were required to detail all of their  



exempt purpose expenses. the defendants knowirigly failed to disclose the f ic i  that ihey 

provided funds for projects and persons in Iraq dur ins  each calendar year set forth above; 

(2 )  Question 76 of cach 1RS Form 990 listed above asked: "Did 

tlie organization engage in any activity not previously reported to the I R S ?  If 'Y cs.' 

attach a detailed description of each activity." O n  cach 1RS Forrn 990 listed above, tlie 

defendants falsely answered "no" to question 76. and failed to disclose tlie improper and 

illegal activities set forth in  this Count of the Indictment; 

(3)  Question 80a o f  each IRS Form 990 listed above asked: "Is 

tlie organization related (other than by association with a statewide or nationwide 

organization) through common mernbersliip, governing bodies, trustees, officers. etc.. to 

any otlier exempt or nonexempt organization?" On each JRS Form 990 listed above, the 

defendants falsely answered "no" to cluestion 80a, and failed to disclose their 

relationships to the l s l a ~ n i c  Relief Agency (ISRA): also known as the I s l a~n ie  African 

Relief Agency. headquartered in Khartoum, Sudan, and to the ISRA branch office located 

in Amman,  lordan; 

(f) On or about November 6, 2001. a person acting on behalf of the 

defendant IARA, engaged in a television interview via satellite transmission from 

Columbia. Missouri, to Atlanta, Georgia, wherein he falsely and publicly claimed that 

Ziyad Klialeel, a then publicly identified associate and procurement agent of  Osama Bin 



Laden,  had never bccn an c ~ n p l o y c c  o f  the dd-cndant IARA.  \i.hcii in faci. as  thc 

dcfcndants  then and thcrc well kncw and bclievcd, h e  had been: 

(g)  O n  or about  August 17, 2001. in rcsponsc to two O F A C  demands  to 

furnish infortnation regarding transactions with naiions then subject to United States 

sanctions. the defendants  IARA and M U B A R A K  l l A M E D  sent a lcttcr to O F A C  that 

contained thc following statement denying that the defendant  l A R A  had violatcd thc l raqi  

sanctions: "lraq: IARA-USA did not export merchandise to Iraq. None o f  our  staff has 

paid an official visit to Iraq. IARA-USA is trying to help thc Iraqi people outsidc lraq." 

T h e  dcli-ndants then and there well kncw :llid belicvcd that this staterncnt was  false. 

misleading, and omittcd material Facts: 

( h )  O n  o r  about  October 13, 2004, during an interview with agents  o f  the 

IRS ,  the dcfcndant M U B A R A K  1 ~ l A M E D  falscly statcd that h c  had applicd for a job with 

the defendanr IARA.  and did not disclosc that on or  about  April 1 X. 1990, the defcndani 

M U B A R A K  f l A M E D  had been  transfcrrcd by the lslaniic African Relief Agency,  located 

in Khartoum, Sudan,  to the dcfcndant IARA's  office in Columbia. Missouri;  and 

( i )  O n  o r  about  October 13_ 2004. during an interview with agents  o f  thc 

IRS ,  the dcl'cndanis IARA and M U B A R A K  I I A M E D  falsely stated that thcy had not 

transferred funds to Iraq whilc the sanctions werc  still in cffect,  and that funds  werc only 

uscd for  lraqi refugces located in .lordan. I lowcver,  the dcfcndalits tlien and thcrc well  



knew :ind b e l ~ c v c d  the statement ;bas false, in that t11cy had transferred funds to Iraq w h ~ i e  

the sanctions were  in effect 

In v ~ o l a t ~ o n  o f  T ~ t l e  26,  Unltcd State? Code. S e c t ~ o n  7212(a) 

C O U N T  THIRTY-THREE 
(For fe~ tu re )  

58  A dcfcndant \vlio ir c o n v ~ c t e d  o f  one  or  more  o f  the money laundering or 

monetary transaction offcnses in violation of  Title 18. United States Code ,  Section 1956. 

alleged in Counts  Thirteen ( 1  3 )  through Twenty-Four (24) and Twenty-Eight (28) tlirough 

Thir ty-One (31 )  o f  this Indictment. shall forreit to the United States o f  America. all 

property, real and  personal.  invol\led in the money laundering and monetary transaction 

ofl'enscs. and all property traceable to such propcrty, as  well as  all propcrty used in any 

manner o r  part to commit  o r  to J'acilitatc the commission of  those violations, including but 

not limited to the following: 

(a )  Defendants  IARA, M U B A R A K  I1AMED: ALI BAGEGNI .  

KHALIU A L - S U D A N E E  and A I ~ I M A D  MUSTAI'A shall forfeit approxi~nate ly  

$1,375_712.00 in Unitcd States currency. That  sum represents the s u ~ n  o f  monies 

~ n v o l v e d  in the i n ~ c r n a t ~ o n a l  l'lnanc~al transactrons used to promote the carryrng on o f  

specified unlawful activity as set  forth in Counts  Tl-rirteen (13) t l~ rough  Twenty-Four (24),  

for  which the defendants  are jointly and severally liable; and 



(h)  Defendants I h R A ,  M U S A R A K  I IAMED,  ALI BAGEGNi  and 

AUDEL AZIM EL-SIDDJQ shall forfeit approximately $46.350.00 in United States 

currency. That sum rcprcscnts the sun1 of  monies involved in the financial transactions 

uscd to conceal the nature, source and ownership of thc proceeds of  specified unlawful 

activity as set forth in Counts Twenty-Eight (28) through Thirty-One (31), for wliich the 

dcfcndants are jointly and severally liable. 

59. By virtue o f  the colnlnission of  onc or more of the felony offenses charged in 

Counts Tliirtccn ( I  3 )  through Twcnty-Four (24)  and Twenty-Eight (28)  through Tllil-ty- 

One  (31) of this indictment by thc dcfcndants IARA. MUBARAK IIAMED, ALI 

BAGECNI ,  KIIALID AL-SUDANEE and ABDEL AZIM EL-SIDDIQI any and all 

interests which the defcndants have in the above describcd sums are vested in thc Unitcd 

States and are hereby forfeited to the Unitcd States pursuant to Titlc 18, Unitcd States 

Codcl  Section 982(a)( I ) .  

60. In the event that any property. real or  personal. involvcd in the offenses and 

describcd in Counts Thirteen ( 1  3) through Twenty-Four (24) and Twenty-Eight (28) 

through Thirty-One ( 3  1) o f  this Indictmc~it ,  or  any property traceable to such property. as 

a result of any act or  omission of the defcndants: 

(a)  cannot be located upon exercise of  due diligence; 

(b) has been transferred or sold to. or deposited w ~ t h  a third party; 

(c )  has been placed beyond thc j u r ~ s d ~ c t i o n  of  the court. 



(d) has becn substantially diminished in value; or 

(e)  has becn co-mingled with othcr property which cannot be divided 

without difficulty: 

it is the intent o f t h e  United Stales, pursuant to Title 18. United Statcs Code. 

Section 982(b)(l) .  to seek forfeirure of any other property of said defendants up to the 

valuc o f t h e  above property. 
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